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For my mother, Diane Dodd, and for the families of Rudy Anderson and Chuck Maultsby.


—Casey Sherman


For Jerry McIlmoyle and all the pilots who flew over Cuba during the Crisis. And to President John F. Kennedy for his steady hand and thoughtful deliberations.
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CHAPTER ONE



Starbursts


OCTOBER 25, 1962


Captain Jerry McIlmoyle sat in the cramped cockpit of his U-2 spy plane on the runway at McCoy Air Force Base in Orlando, Florida. It was 10 a.m., and the sun was baking the tarmac, causing the thirty-two-year-old pilot to sweat inside his skintight pressure suit and fishbowl-size helmet. Beads of perspiration ran from his tightly cropped hairline down his forehead and into his bright blue eyes. Another U-2 pilot performed one last equipment check, including inspection of the hose running from the pressure suit to the oxygen supply that ran through the pilot’s emergency seat pack. This connection was of particular importance because Jerry would be flying at an altitude no other aircraft could reach—an incredible thirteen miles above Earth. Should something go wrong and the cockpit lose pressure, the flight suit would inflate, providing Jerry’s last line of defense against the dangerously thin air of the stratosphere. Without a pressurized cockpit or a functioning pressure suit, Jerry’s blood would literally begin to boil, and death would soon follow.


Once the final flight check was completed and the canopy lid sealed, Jerry taxied toward the runway’s centerline. The wingspan on the superlight aircraft was so long—103 feet—pogo sticks were needed to keep each wing from nearly scraping the ground. Once at the centerline he engaged the brake and checked that the directional gyro read the same as the runway’s compass direction. He then ran the engine up to 80 percent of its maximum RPMs because anything higher would cause the aircraft to start sliding down the runway with its brake locked. Next he checked that all systems were in good operating order and then released the brake, advanced the throttle to 100 percent, and barreled down the runaway, pogo sticks dropping away. When the airspeed indicator passed seventy knots, he began pulling back on the yoke, and the plane became airborne as its speed hit one hundred knots. The rumble of wheels on the runway faded away, and he raised the landing gear. He continued to pull on the yoke and began a forty-five-degree climb.


Airspeed rose to 160 knots. Soon the plane was invisible to the naked eye, its blue coloring the perfect camouflage against the sky. In just thirty minutes the young airman from McCook, Nebraska, had climbed to 72,000 feet, where he could clearly see the curvature of Earth. He had reached his cruising altitude and eased back on the speed, carefully keeping it between 100 and 104 knots. Forty-five minutes later, he had entered the airspace over the island of Cuba.


Now, just east of the capital city of Havana, he maneuvered his plane into position for overflight of his first target. This air force pilot, however, wasn’t dropping bombs—in fact his plane carried no weapons at all. Instead, he was after photos of Soviet military installations that included nuclear missiles capable of reaching and destroying cities throughout the United States.


The cockpit was quiet, and Jerry felt calm, even peaceful, despite having entered enemy airspace and knowing Soviet radar was tracking him. This was his third flight over the Communist country in just the last few days, and he focused totally on flying the aircraft, getting the photos, and returning home safely.


Jerry flicked the switch on the cockpit sensor control panel and activated the cameras. Once certain he had photographed target number one, he altered course to the southeast and in approximately forty minutes arrived and filmed his second target. The mission was going as planned, and the clear skies were holding over the 780-mile-long island covered with hills and lush green jungle.


The third and final objective was near the town of Banes, on the northeastern coast of the island. When Jerry arrived, he had been over Cuba for approximately one hour and fifteen minutes. Once over the target he started filming, got the photos he needed, shut the camera off, and started to make his turn for home, thankful for a safe and successful run.


That’s when he saw them. Through his tiny rearview mirror, two contrails stretched from Earth all the way toward his aircraft.


He was under fire.


One surface-to-air missile (SAM) had already exploded above and behind him, sending fiery shrapnel in all directions and streaks of white light against the blue sky, a deadly starburst. The second missile exploded a mere second after Jerry first looked into his rearview mirror, this one causing an explosion perhaps 8,000 feet above the plane. The blast sent a burst of adrenaline coursing through the pilot’s body, even though he could not hear or feel the impact. His muscles clenched, and his entire body felt as if it were shrinking. This was a natural, physiological survival response. But Jerry knew it was fruitless as he had no place to hide.


Was a third missile streaking up beneath him—out of sight?


He craned his neck around as best he could in the cumbersome helmet and flight suit but did not see a third contrail. Then he made an instant decision. He banked the plane and, during the turn, flicked the cameras on—he wanted to get the contrails and starbursts on film. Despite the near miss of the missiles and the adrenaline, Jerry felt calm. Seeing the explosions meant to kill him but not hearing or feeling a thing was a surreal experience—like watching the movie of your life from the front row. But this was all too real.


He had his pictures. Now it was time to get the hell out of there.


He turned the aircraft once again for home and took a deep breath, relieved to be looking north toward a horizon where ocean met sky. Less than two minutes had passed since he noticed the contrails.


On the flight home he replayed those intense moments again and again in his mind, still trying to come to grips with what had just happened.


Just a second or two more over his last target and he probably would have been blown out of the sky. It was the initial turn toward home that had saved his life. The Russians had likely aimed the SAMs at a location ahead of the U-2 in the direction it was then flying, but Jerry had changed course in the nick of time. Just one piece of shrapnel hitting the U-2 in the engine could have blown it to pieces. And even if the shrapnel missed the engine, a hit to just about any other area would have crippled the fragile plane, sending it tumbling thirteen miles down before it smacked into the Cuban earth.


Jerry wondered why the red light intended to warn him that a missile was locked onto his aircraft had not come on. The device that activated it had adequately warned him more than once during the flight, by displaying a yellow light in the cockpit, that the Soviets were painting him with radar. But the light never changed to red to indicate an incoming missile. He tried to put himself in the enemy’s position. Maybe the Soviets had turned off their guidance systems to deprive him of a warning? They could’ve gambled that they could hit him without it. Either way, it was a miracle he was alive.


He reflected appreciatively on his years of arduous training, which had helped him stay calm and given him the presence of mind to get the contrails on film. Jerry had been in the air force since 1951, long enough to know that without the pictures, some might doubt him, and he thought it imperative that the decision-makers, as well as his fellow pilots, understand the increased risk. He knew how important these black-and-white images would be, as his experience marked the first time during this growing Cuban crisis that any American airman had been fired upon.


A sense of peace washed over Jerry as he saw the green landmass of Florida far in the distance. Despite the close call with the SAMs, his relief at cheating death blended with a feeling of serenity, a sensation he almost always experienced when flying the U-2. The silence made him feel like the only man alive, and when cruising and not taking photos, he could be alone with his thoughts and felt closer to God. There was a radio in the cockpit, but that could only be used in code, and only to alert friendly military aircraft of his entry and exit from Cuban airspace. At times Jerry felt more astronaut than pilot, sealed off from the earth below. Many pilots who entered the U-2 program washed out not just because of the myriad dangers and challenges associated with flying in the stratosphere but also because of the isolation they felt, particularly on long missions. These spy planes flew alone, never in squadrons, and secrecy was paramount.


Upon his landing at McCoy, members of the Physiological Support Team helped Jerry out of the cockpit and removed his helmet, welcoming him home. They then escorted him into an air-conditioned van for the drive to the building where he would do his usual postflight intelligence debriefing. He wanted to make sure that he had every detail right. Jerry stepped out of the van into a blast of hot air generated by the burning Florida sun. He began to sweat again. He entered the building and then an office where several men from the American intelligence community awaited him. Shown a chair, he sat down but could not get comfortable. Jerry knew he was about to give his superiors information they did not want to hear. But he also realized that he simply had to come out and say it. He stared at the men in the room, took a deep breath, and spoke.


“I was shot at over Cuba.”


The intelligence men stared hard at Jerry and then looked at each other, as if having a telepathic conversation.


“Are you sure?” one of the men asked, furrowing his brow.


“Yes, sir, I took pictures of the missiles’ contrails,” Jerry replied with confidence. “They stretched from the ground all the way behind and above my aircraft.” He went on to explain in detail how he maneuvered the plane to secure pictures, the location from which the missiles had been fired, and the approximate distance of the starbursts from his plane. The intelligence officers scribbled away on notepads, recording each detail. After an hour of questioning, the officers excused McIlmoyle and thanked him for his time. Jerry returned to his quarters, while the debriefing notes went immediately to the Pentagon.


Back at the barracks where the pilots lived, Jerry felt obliged to give his fellow U-2 drivers, as they were called, fair warning. He repeated the details of how he had eluded two SAMs and got photos.


Some of the pilots took him at his word; others peppered him with questions. One of McIlmoyle’s flying mates did not appear overly concerned by the details of his near-death experience in the skies over Cuba. Major Rudy Anderson asked no questions as the answers might allow fear and hesitation to enter his mind. Any realization that the enemy had fired missiles—thereby turning surveillance missions into combat missions in a defenseless aircraft—might lead Anderson to perform his duties with extra caution instead of based on his instinct and training. Anderson could not let that happen. He was ready to push himself to the limit and separate himself from the pack. Rudy Anderson was determined to fly more missions over Cuba than the other ten members of his squadron during the increasingly volatile showdown between the United States and the Soviet Union.


THE NEXT MORNING, as Jerry walked out of the Psychological Support Center, about to head across the tarmac, he heard a booming voice behind him.


“I’d like to have a word with you.”


Jerry turned. He did not know the man, but he knew what his heavily decorated uniform represented. He was a three-star general and had flown down from Washington, DC, that very morning for one purpose: to deliver a stern message to Jerry, which he did without preamble.


“There was nothing on your film,” said the general. “Therefore you were not shot at.”


Stunned, Jerry began to protest. “But I got those pictures.”


The general was unmoved. “You were not shot at, so we are going to destroy your intelligence report. Is that okay with you?”


For a moment, McIlmoyle forgot he was speaking to a three-star general. His temper rose. He knew what he had seen. He knew what he had experienced.


“No, it’s not okay,” Jerry replied firmly, “because I know I was fired on.”


The general shot the captain a piercing look. He had not flown from the nation’s capital for argument or debate. “Well that’s what we are going to do, because we don’t think you were.”


Jerry shook his head in frustration. “Do whatever you want, but I know what happened.”


The general stood stock-still, then slowly, subtly shook his head no, all the while staring into Jerry’s eyes.


The message was delivered.


McIlmoyle was outraged, but he was no fool. The general was so many ranks above him, further argument would be fruitless and downright dangerous for his military career. Jerry held his tongue and walked away, not sure why this general was so adamant that he had not been shot at. But it hardly mattered: a general had flown all the way to Florida to tell him in person. That was all he needed to know.


NOT UNTIL MANY years later, when Jerry himself was a brigadier general working in Washington, was he able to confirm what he had known all along: the Soviets had in fact launched two SAMs at his U-2. At this time Jerry was in charge of the nuclear codes, serving under newly elected president Ronald Reagan. He had just briefed the president, and some CIA people were also at the meeting. When the discussion adjourned, one of the CIA men said to Jerry, “If there’s anything we can do for you, just ask.”


Jerry asked. He explained about the incident over Cuba many years earlier and inquired if the CIA men could locate the photo analysts who examined the film he had taken on that October day in 1962.


It took a few phone calls, but the CIA found the analyst who had studied the photos Jerry took decades before. The analyst called Jerry and after introducing himself, said, “Sir, you were most definitely fired on with two SAMs.”















CHAPTER TWO



Born to Fly


THREE HUNDRED THIRTY-SIX miles. That was the distance separating two young boys who were born to fly. Rudolf Anderson Jr. grew up in the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains in Greenville, South Carolina. Born on September 15, 1927, in nearby Spartanburg, he was raised in a small, well-kept home at 6 Tomassece Avenue. He shared the 1920s three-bedroom bungalow with his parents, older sister, Elizabeth, and their cousin Peggy, who came to live with them when her parents died.


The land that Rudy Anderson, his family, and his fellow townspeople called home had once been off-limits to white people. Members of the Cherokee tribe, whose ancestors migrated to the area from the Great Lakes region in ancient times, had once used it as their hunting ground and forbidden colonists to enter on penalty of death.


The Native Americans lost control over this sacred land thanks to a conniving colonist named Richard Pearis, a man they had grown to trust. The Irish-born Pearis had spent decades trading with the Cherokee Nation and led a band of Indian warriors in the battle to reclaim Fort Duquesne in modern-day Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, on behalf of British forces during the French-Indian War. In 1770, Pearis and a trading partner presented letters from Cherokee tribe leaders declaring their willingness to cede to the colony of Virginia. The letters had been forged. When the plot was finally uncovered, however, Pearis had already begun transferring 10,000 acres over to white settlers.


Loyalties were divided during the Revolutionary War, but the community stood united during the Civil War, when the town became a major supplier of arms, food, and clothing for the Confederacy. The commitment to service and country passed from generation to generation. The town served as a training center for army recruits during World War I and became home to the Greenville Army Base at the beginning of World War II. The US Army’s Third Air Base began medium bomber training there in the early 1940s with its twin-engine B-25 Mitchell aircraft.


Young Rudy Anderson found the sound and fury emanating from these planes as they took off and landed in Greenville intoxicating. Fixated on air travel since he could walk, as a young boy Anderson studied the navigational paths of honeybees and learned that the flying insects used the sun as a reference point for both navigation and communication. He was always eager to share this knowledge with his classmates at Augusta Circle Elementary School. When not in school, he busied himself building wooden model airplanes in his bedroom. A photograph taken during one of those long, hot summers typical of Greenville shows a shirtless young Anderson crouching in the backyard of his home, holding a model airplane nearly the length of his small body. A look of determination and pride blankets his face as he shows off his wooden aircraft.


The boy also found inspiration across the street from his home in a neighbor who piloted prop planes at the nearby airstrip. Long backyard discussions about flying soon led to short plane rides high above Greenville’s sprawling tobacco and cotton fields. For Anderson, no sensation matched it. He and the pilot were masters of the sky, and he was hooked immediately. Anderson learned about all types of aircraft and eventually logged his own hours in the cockpit. He was the all-American boy in every sense.


He joined Boy Scout Troop 19 at Camp Old Indian, where he took long hikes and learned basic and advanced scout craft, eventually earning an Eagle Scout badge. His scoutmaster called Anderson “a good scout who took bravery to the limits.” His father, Rudy Sr., who owned one of the largest nurseries in town and specialized in crossbreeding hybrid roses, fostered the boy’s love of nature.


In his free time, Anderson played softball for the Buncombe Street Methodist Church softball team. He was an athlete, a scholar, and a prized catch for the young ladies of Greenville. The towheaded boy, who had proudly displayed his model airplane in that earlier photograph, grew rapidly into a strapping young man with light brown hair and soft eyes.


“He was so handsome,” Annelle Powell recalled years later. “Or maybe he wasn’t. We just loved him so. We thought he was.”1 Rudy Anderson was graced with a powerful yet polite personality to match his broad shoulders and movie star looks. But his love life took a backseat to his academic career and dream of flying. The quote “Good humor is the calm blue sky of the soul” accompanies a photo of Anderson in his 1944 high school yearbook.


He believed that his destiny lay not on the ground but in the heavens. Upon graduation, Anderson enrolled at Clemson University and continued his training as a respected major in the university’s Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC) program, the first of its kind at Clemson. Leadership came naturally to the Eagle Scout. He also made friends easily, thanks to his giving nature.


“I went to ROTC summer camp with Rudy in Mississippi in 1948,” fellow cadet Richard Sublette recalled years later. “Rudy was the only one of my friends who had a car during that time.”2


Sublette says Anderson would stand guard in the camp parking lot at night, allowing his buddies, also supposed to be on watch, to sit in his car and run down the battery playing the radio.


That same year, Anderson was nearly killed in an accident—not drilling on the parade ground but while chasing a pigeon in his dormitory. The wayward bird had slipped in through a window on the third floor. Anderson and others had tried to shoo it away, but the creature would not budge. He took a running start at the bird and chased it down the hallway. When the pigeon made it to the window, Rudy could not stop his momentum and followed the bird into the night sky. He landed hard on an iron and concrete gangplank above the front entrance of the dormitory. Anderson suffered a broken pelvis, sprained wrist, and deep gash on his forehead. He was conscious when he arrived at the university hospital, where Dr. Lee Milford, the college physician who treated him, said his surviving the fall was a miracle.3


When it became clear that Anderson would recover fully, some began to poke fun at the bizarre circumstances surrounding the accident. A letter soon arrived at the office of Clemson’s president on a postcard postmarked in Greenville:




Gentlemen: I read in the paper that one of your distinguished senior students fell out of a third story window while chasing a pigeon down the hall. It did not state whether he caught the pigeon or not. This has me worried because I have often wondered whether a Clemson man is capable of catching a pigeon or not. Yours truly, A Cute Pigeon.4





After graduating from college in 1948, Anderson spent nearly three years working in the textile industry as a cost accountant for Dunean Mill, a cotton manufacturer in Greenville. The mill employed hundreds of people, and its owners labored to foster a sense of community among the workers. There were hot dog suppers, Halloween carnivals, fishing club banquets, and annual Fourth of July pig chases.


It was the perfect place to work and raise a family. But Rudy Anderson felt grounded. He wanted more. He was born to fly.


On November 6, 1951, he took the oath of enlistment in the US Air Force: “I, Rudolf Anderson, do solemnly swear that I will support and defend the Constitution of the United States of America against all enemies foreign and domestic,” he pledged. “That I bear true faith and allegiance to the same; And that I will obey the orders of the President of the United States and the orders of the officers appointed over me, according to regulations and the Uniform Code of Military Justice, so help me God.”


CHARLES “CHUCK” MAULTSBY, a year older than Rudy Anderson, was also from Greenville—the other one, a few hundred miles away in North Carolina. Like Anderson, Maultsby was born with flying in his blood, though he had a vastly different childhood.


Chuck Maultsby was the fourth of five children born to Isaac Wayne Maultsby and his wife, Cecelia Lash Maultsby. During the first years of his life, his father was rarely at home. Wayne Maultsby, a shoemaker by trade, traveled around the South by motorcycle, looking for work and returning home for just a couple of days each month to spend time with his wife and children.


The family later settled in Greensboro, living in a two-bedroom wood-frame house with no plumbing. They were poor, but Cecelia hid the hardship from her children as best she could. Cecelia’s sister Inez often donated food and clothing, while Maultsby’s grandmother covered the electric bill when the small house went dark. Cecelia paid this generosity forward by welcoming down-on-their-luck travelers into their home for warmth and something to eat. It was the height of the Great Depression, and despite their financial woes, Cecelia’s home was a beacon of light for transients, who had marked the location with chalk so that others could benefit from the woman’s goodwill.


For young Maultsby, the visitors provided welcome entertainment as they shared stories about their travels far and wide. The pivotal moment of Maultsby’s childhood occurred when a mail plane flew dangerously low over the house. The loud noise frightened the boy and his four sisters. Cecelia explained that there was nothing to fear, and Maultsby soon found himself feeling excited each time the craft buzzed past their tiny home.


Cecelia encouraged her son’s interest in planes and read to him stories about Charles Lindbergh and daring pilots from World War I. The boy soon paid his first visit to a local airstrip and took a sightseeing flight aboard a Ford trimotor, a big metal plane with two engines on the wings and one on the nose. The flight lasted just a few minutes, but the memories stayed with Maultsby for a lifetime. He savored the smells of gasoline and hydraulic fluid. His stomach tightened during takeoff, his eyes widening as the aircraft climbed into the blue sky above. The boy felt as if he could reach out and touch the clouds. He peered down at the farmland and houses below. They got smaller and smaller as the trimotor soared. He returned to Earth a short time later, exhilarated.


As Maultsby grew more attached to the airfield in Greensboro, his family was uprooted again. Isaac Maultsby moved Cecelia and the children to Danville, Virginia, to open a shoe-repair shop. Financial prospects for the family appeared bright for the first time that the boy could remember. They had rented a sprawling two-story home in a decent neighborhood, and the children had enrolled in school. But these days of happiness and prosperity were short-lived.


A sudden visit from Maultsby’s grandmother was a welcome surprise until the children overheard a quiet conversation among her, Isaac, and Cecelia.


Cecelia’s mother had been startled to see a massive, grapefruit-sized growth on her daughter’s neck. It had metastasized over time, and yet Isaac had neglected to get his wife proper medical attention. The conversation between Maultsby’s father and grandmother turned heated until they had agreed on a plan of action. The next day, Cecelia was gone, taken to the hospital for an emergency operation. The young boy never saw his mother again.


Cecelia Maultsby died on the operating table. Chuck Maultsby was just eight years old. Upon learning of his mother’s death, he hid in a dark shed, away from his father, and sobbed over his loss. Isaac Maultsby forbade his children to cry, which he considered a sign of weakness.


Maultsby and his four sisters were now alone with their father, who showed little compassion for his children. To teach his son how to swim, Isaac simply threw the boy off a bridge into a river below.


“It seemed like an eternity until my body hit the water,” Maultsby recalled years later in his memoir. “I felt myself sinking deeper into the inky black water finally hitting bottom. I instinctively began thrashing my arms and legs which brought me to the surface.”5


The current swept the boy up onto the riverbank, where he laid facedown, coughing and sputtering river water. His father had not moved from his spot on the bridge. The boy could hear him laughing.


Isaac sent his daughters off to a boarding school for girls, while he and Chuck moved out of their rented home and into the back of his shoe-repair shop. The boy slept on a cot and bathed at the local YMCA. He also endured repeated beatings by his father. Fortunately for Chuck, the responsibilities of parenthood were too much for Isaac, who eventually sent his son to live with Cecelia’s sister Inez and her husband, Louis, in Norfolk, Virginia. Isaac never said good-bye and did not reappear in his son’s life for another eight years.


Aunt Inez filled a deep void in Chuck Maultsby’s life. She nurtured the boy much as his mother had done. He now had structure and freedom from fear that a simple mistake would lead to a thrashing. He began to explore the city of Norfolk on his bicycle, eventually discovering a small airstrip fifteen minutes away from his new home.


The exhilaration he had experienced back in Greensboro returned. Maultsby hung around the airport, studying planes and getting to know the pilots. He watched while engines were overhauled and wings recovered. Occasionally, he offered to wax and polish planes in exchange for a ride in the heavens. Pilots admired his pluck and unquenchable thirst for knowledge.


Later, while attending Holy Trinity High School in Norfolk, he learned about a private airport that offered flying lessons for eight dollars a session. The place, Glenrock Airport, consisted of a grass runway, a tiny operations shack, and two small hangars. It had received some recent notoriety with a visit from famed pilot Douglas “Wrong Way” Corrigan. Corrigan had become a folk hero of sorts when in 1938 he “accidently” flew to Ireland during what was supposed to be a transcontinental flight. Corrigan flew his plane, a nine-year-old, specially constructed Curtiss Robin nicknamed Sunshine, from Long Beach, California, to Brooklyn, New York. Supposed to return to Long Beach, he instead headed in the opposite direction, landing safely at Baldonnel Aerodome in Dublin. Corrigan told aviation officials that, disoriented by heavy cloud cover and low-light conditions, he had flown the wrong way. Reporters gobbled up the story. But pilots close to Corrigan knew how skilled he was in the cockpit and suspected him of pulling a publicity stunt. It worked. Young Chuck Maultsby had read the tale but could not have known then how an event in his own future would one day draw comparisons to Corrigan’s flying feat.


At first blush, Maultsby was not impressed by the conditions of Glenrock Airport. “I inspected the hangars and I thought they were a disgrace,” he recalled. “There were motor and airplane pieces scattered everywhere on the dirt floor of the hangars amongst the trash and oily rags. It made me wonder about the airworthiness of the planes.”6


He learned that he would need eight hours, at seven and a half dollars per hour, to obtain a student permit to fly solo. Sixty dollars was far too much to ask of his aunt Inez and uncle Louis, so he took several jobs after school as a drugstore delivery boy, theater usher, and soda jerk to pay for the lessons.


Maultsby jumped on his bicycle each Saturday and pedaled twenty-eight miles round-trip to the airfield for training. His first lesson was a basic orientation flight. His instructor took him through the preflight checks and drilled him on every detail. Maultsby recited the instructions back to the pilot verbatim several times before they took off in the J-3 Piper Cub, a monoplane with a single rectangular wing. The plane was the Model T of aviation. The Cub was lightweight and affordable and easy to mass-produce. On his first flight, the young pilot was allowed to fly straight and make a few simple turns. His calm demeanor in the cockpit impressed the instructor. Soon Maultsby was learning to taxi, take off, approach, and land.


His confidence grew with each lesson, and he was allowed to fly solo on his sixteenth birthday. He savored the experience, as he would not fly again for another three years. The United States was now a fully committed Allied power in World War II, and all J-3 Piper Cubs were being turned over to the Civil Air Patrol. Glenrock Airport was shuttered, and a teenaged Maultsby had to look for other opportunities to support the growing war effort.















CHAPTER THREE



11 Alive


AUGUST 2, 1943


Twenty-six-year-old US Navy lieutenant Jack Kennedy motored his patrol torpedo (PT) boat through the darkness off Vanga Point, just northwest of Kolombangara, a circular island in the Blackett Strait of the Solomon Island chain.


It was just after midnight, and the sky was black. With no moon and no stars, the darkness was total.1 Kennedy and his crew were navigating the waters virtually blindfolded and alone. The men had become separated from a fifteen-boat formation sometime before midnight while trying to avoid a Japanese searchlight. Kennedy’s mission was simple—to engage, damage, and turn back Japanese destroyers serving as supply ships to reinforce Emperor Hirohito’s troops. The convoy they were waiting for consisted of four Japanese warships in total: the Amagiri, Arashi, Hagikaze, and Shigure. The destroyers belonged to Japan’s 8th Fleet, which also included five heavy cruisers and two light cruisers. The Tokyo Express, as it was called, had to make its resupply missions at night due to Allied air superiority in the South Pacific.


The destroyers were not due to sail through the area for another hour or so. American code breakers had unlocked the Imperial Navy’s schedule and predicted an arrival time of about 1 a.m.


Another patrol torpedo boat, PT-159, had engaged the enemy a short time before and several miles away, but Kennedy knew nothing of this. The boat’s captain, Lieutenant Henry “Hank” Brantingham of Fayetteville, Arkansas, had mistaken four blips on the radar screen for Japanese barges when in fact they represented four enemy destroyers carrying heavy guns and more than 1,000 troops. The approaching warships were also sailing under the invisible protection of several armed Japanese floatplanes flown by pilots eager to strafe any and all Allied intruders. Believing that he had the advantage over what he had presumed were ill-equipped barges, Brantingham aligned his boat with nearby PT-157, and together they forged an attack. The American sailors soon realized their mistake as the destroyers immediately opened fire on the small patrol boats. PT-157 launched four torpedoes, but none made contact with the enemy. Outgunned and outnumbered, the patrol torpedo boats moved out of firing position and zigzagged their way for more than ten miles before they found themselves out of danger.


To complicate matters even more, Commander Thomas Warfield, the man in charge of the PT formation, had ordered PT-159, the only boat with radar, back to base. Without radar coverage and separated from the nearest American boat by at least 1,000 yards, Kennedy took a defensive posture and laid down a smoke screen with the boat’s stern-mounted generators while waiting for the Tokyo Express to enter the area en route to a Japanese military base on the island of Kolombangara.


The Japanese destroyers had now successfully breached four American picket lines, raining lightning down upon the patrol boats while evading a myriad of torpedoes launched in their direction. Thus far, not one of twenty-four torpedoes fired at the Japanese had hit its mark. The Japanese convoy arrived at the island outpost at approximately 12:30 a.m. and unloaded troops and supplies. The destroyers set sail again nearly two hours later. By this time, Kennedy’s boat was patrolling the waters north of the island along with two other lost boats: PT-162 and PT-169.


A heavy mist lay over the water. Kennedy guided PT-109 quietly along, utilizing only one of the patrol boat’s three 1,500-horsepower engines. Four crewmembers were off duty and had fallen asleep on deck, while the remaining six were on high alert at their stations at the gun turrets both forward and aft, next to the machine gun on the port side and on the forward deck next to the big 37 mm gun.


Ensign Barney Ross saw it first—the dark outline of a massive vessel headed directly toward them from about 1,000 yards away. Before Ross could utter a word, crewmate Harold Marney, a normally quiet nineteen-year-old sailor from Springfield, Massachusetts, shouted a warning from his position by the forward gun turret.


“Ship at two o’clock!”2


Lieutenant Kennedy believed it to be another PT boat fumbling around in the darkness. As the vessel drew closer, he noticed the huge phosphorescent wake of a massive ship. The destroyer Amagiri was bearing down on them at a speed of thirty-four knots with no signs of shifting course. Kennedy jerked the wheel in an attempt to fire off a torpedo. He ordered his men to prepare to launch a torpedo while Ensign Ross worked feverishly to stuff a shell into the 37 mm antitank gun. But Amagiri was closing in fast—too fast for the crewmembers to avoid collision.


The men of PT-109 braced for impact.


This is how it feels to be killed, Kennedy thought.


Amagiri looked like a giant orca as it nearly swallowed PT-109 whole. The destroyer plowed into the small vessel just feet away from Kennedy’s position in the cockpit, tossing the young lieutenant violently against the steel bulkhead. The destroyer continued to eat away at the boat, tearing off a huge chunk of the starboard stern. PT-109 began to sink.


Harold Marney was thrown from the vessel and disappeared below the waterline. Fellow crewmember Andrew Jackson Kirksey, a twenty-five-year-old torpedo man from Reynolds, Georgia, also fell out of the boat and into the black, cold water along with twisted metal from the broken vessel’s aft section. Seven more men were picked up and tossed into the ocean like toy soldiers.


Darkness then turned to daylight as a tower of fire and smoke fed on gallons of gasoline that had leaked from the boat.


Kennedy, though knocked off his feet and onto his back, remained inside the wreckage of PT-109. Another sailor, Patrick “Pappy” McMahon, a motor machinist’s mate from Wyanet, Illinois, found himself trapped in the engine room as torrents of water and flames flooded the small space. McMahon pulled his knees up close to his chest and waited to die. Seconds later, Amagiri’s propellers, working like a giant vacuum inhaling everything in their path, sucked him out of the engine room. McMahon should have been cut to ribbons but somehow managed to evade the massive blades as the turbulent ocean spit him back out moments later. When he breached the surface, McMahon found himself surrounded by a ring of fire, five hundred yards away from Kennedy and the sinking PT-109. Flames licked his body, burning his arms and chest, as he attempted to swim to safety.


Kennedy struggled to his feet and called out to his men.


“Who’s aboard?” he shouted.


Edman Mauer, a young quartermaster from St. Louis, called back, as did radioman John Maguire. Like Kennedy, Mauer had been knocked to the deck. He suffered a deep bruise to his right shoulder but was otherwise okay. Maguire had been standing close to Kennedy at the time of impact but, instead of getting knocked down, was tossed out of the cockpit and into the ocean, where he was at the mercy of the destroyer’s rear gunners, who were firing at will.


Maguire swam back to the patrol boat and climbed onto the sinking hull. The boat’s gas tank was still partially filled, and knowing that it could explode at any moment, Kennedy ordered the two sailors to abandon ship. The men jumped into the sea, where they joined eight other survivors treading water amid the flames and debris from PT-109. Two sailors, Marney and Kirksey, never reemerged after getting thrown into the ocean. Their bodies were never found.


Of the survivors, the man in the worst shape appeared to be Pappy McMahon. He had sustained second- and third-degree burns on his torso, chest, and face.


Kennedy swam over to McMahon and assessed his injuries.


“How are you, Mac?”3


McMahon was barely conscious. He mumbled a response and indicated that he could not move his arms or legs. At age thirty-seven, Pappy was the oldest member of the crew and a full decade older than Kennedy, his commander. Exempt from military service because of his age, McMahon had enlisted in the navy anyway. Now here he was somewhere in the Pacific Ocean, drawing what could be his last breaths while ingesting seawater and gasoline fumes. There was no way that the man could make it back to the broken vessel on his own, so Kennedy lifted McMahon onto his back and clenched the strap of Pappy’s life jacket in his teeth. The young lieutenant pushed back through the black, choppy water, towing McMahon toward the wreck of PT-109. The predawn winds howled, and the strong current served as a formidable barrier to the rescue. Yet Kennedy kept fighting against the waves and the pain screaming through his head, shoulders, and legs and especially his lower back. The journey took an hour to complete. Several others also scrambled back to the wreckage.


Another survivor, Gerry Zinser, was attempting to swim in the direction of the bow’s hull when his entire body was overcome by pain.


“Please, God, don’t let me pass out! Bring the boat!”


The boat was splintered and not operational. No other help was on the way.


Zinser, a machinist’s mate first-class and career navy man from Belleville, Illinois, had been standing near the engine hatch at the time of the collision. He was immediately hurled into the air and into the water. Zinser had been knocked totally unconscious, but his life jacket kept him afloat. He woke up about ten to fifteen minutes later. Surrounded by small fires, he was burned on the arm and chest.


Three other crewmen, including radioman John Maguire, tried to pull Zinser through the water, but they too struggled against the stiff current. The men needed help. Kennedy, a strong swimmer, swam the breaststroke toward the sound of Zinser’s quivering voice. His body scorched, the Illinois native was ready to give up. When Kennedy finally reached him, he grabbed Zinser’s shoulder and began shaking him.


“I will not allow you to die!” Kennedy shouted.4


The lieutenant helped escort Zinser back to PT-109. Soon other men emerged from the smoky water, some by their own will and others through the strength and power of their comrades who had refused to let them die.


It had now been three hours since the Japanese destroyer rammed PT-109. Amagiri was long gone. The bow was all that remained of the eighty-foot-long torpedo patrol boat. The stern section, where the engine room was located, had sunk soon after impact. Two crewmembers were still missing. Kennedy and others called out for Marney and Kirksey but heard nothing. The young commander soon came to grips with the painful reality that he had lost two men under his watch.


The eleven exhausted survivors of PT-109 waited for help, but unaware that a Japanese destroyer had rammed the vessel, the other patrol torpedo boat commanders were not coordinating a rescue attempt. Kennedy had a flare gun, but firing it while adrift in hostile waters was too dangerous. He feared that the signal might alert the enemy and trigger a second attack. The battered and burned crewmembers grabbed hold of the broken vessel and found brief moments of sleep as darkness turned to dawn.


The next morning, Kennedy asked his men if they were willing to fight if the Japanese discovered their position, which was now three miles southeast of Kolombangara Island, then occupied by 10,000 Japanese soldiers. “Fight with what?” a crewmember asked. The men were low on arms—they had only a submachine gun, a few knives, and six pistols among them. The men said they would engage the enemy if the fight was fair. But if the Japanese sent out an overwhelming force to dispatch the remaining crewmembers of PT-109, the best option was surrender.


“We’re no good to anybody dead,” quartermaster Edman Mauer said.5


Fighting became less of an option as the morning wore on. The sea continued to swallow what remained of the vessel. Soon all eleven men were struggling to hang on to only fifteen feet of wood and metal sticking out of the ocean. By early afternoon, only one foot of the boat remained above water. It was time for Kennedy and his crew to abandon ship.


The commander scanned the horizon, looking for land not crawling with enemy troops. Soon, he spotted a tiny island that appeared deserted. The decision was made. They would swim for it. Kennedy drew the crew’s attention to a large piece of wood from the wreckage floating in the water.


“I’ll take McMahon with me,” he said. “The rest of you can swim together on this plank.”6


McMahon knew that he would be dead weight in the water and that Kennedy’s only chance to reach the island was to swim alone.


“You go on with the other men,” McMahon told Kennedy. “Don’t worry about me.”


The young commander would hear none of it.


“You’re coming, Pappy,” he said. “Only the good die young.”


Just as he had done hours before, Kennedy bit on the leather strap attached to McMahon’s life vest and started to swim. Their safe haven stood 3.4 miles in the distance. Kennedy swam the breaststroke for fifteen minutes straight before taking a brief rest. He continued to swim in intervals with McMahon on his back. The other men made the journey kicking their legs behind a flotation device jerry-rigged from a pair of two-by-eight wooden planks. It took four long hours for the men to reach their destination, Kasolo Island.


As arduous as the marathon swim was, the most difficult moments for Kennedy occurred when he reached shallow water. He cut his legs and arms badly on jagged coral as he struggled toward the beach. Once he reached land, Kennedy vomited violently—coughing up the seawater he had swallowed during the four-hour swim. Both he and McMahon then crawled toward a nearby tree line for cover. Amazingly, Kennedy had reached the island before the other PT-109 survivors swimming with the assistance of the flotation device.


Now reunited, the survivors hid themselves in the thick bushes and flora of the island, away from the angry eyes of the enemy. The only food on the island was coconuts, but when the men ate them, they all got sick.


Kennedy took stock of the welfare of his crew. Beaten by the enemy and tortured by the ocean, they were now starving and losing hope. The young commander pondered whether any of them would survive this ordeal—especially Pappy McMahon.


“McMahon’s burns, which covered his face, body and arms, festered, grew hard, and cracked in the salt water, and his skin peeled off,” Kennedy later wrote.


Hope of rescue was dim. In this hostile location, there was a greater chance that the men would be mowed down by Japanese soldiers or left to rot and die on the island. If Kennedy wanted help, he would have to go find it. He remembered that for the past several nights, PT boats had made their runs through a nearby channel. Kennedy believed that in order to save his men, he would have to put his own life on the line and swim by himself into Ferguson Passage in the hope of alerting a passing boat to their desperate situation and the position of his men. Despite pleas from his crew not to go—that it was a suicide mission—Kennedy grabbed a lantern and waded back into the cold, dark water. His men watched him go, believing they would never see him alive again.


Kennedy swam for about a half mile before reaching a patch of land called Leorava Island. After a brief rest, he swam for another two miles before reaching the Ferguson Passage. The night sky was the color of charcoal, as it had been on the previous evening. Kennedy had a .38 pistol tied to a lanyard around his neck and a battle lantern. He planned to fire three warning shots into the sky and then flash his lantern in hopes that his fellow PT boatmen would spot him. The young lieutenant waited, treading water, for several minutes as the stiff current pummeled his body. With no American vessel in sight, he decided to turn around and swim back to his men on Kasolo Island. Allowing the current to do most of the work this time, Kennedy floated and swam for several more hours in the never-ending sea. Just before dawn, he washed up on a coral reef jutting out from Leorava Island. He could hardly believe that the current had taken him back to the same spot where he had rested briefly the night before. He fought his way to the sand and fell into a deep sleep.


Later that morning, as the hot sun began to bake his rough skin and open wounds, Kennedy awoke and dragged himself back to the water. About a half mile now separated him from his crew. The young commander had been in the ocean on and off for the past thirty hours and had reached a point beyond fatigue. He had put his body and mind through an ordeal that would have broken most men. The survivors waiting back on Kasolo were now trying to cope with the thought that their leader was dead—that he had succumbed to the dangerous ocean. At around noontime, the stranded sailors saw a figure emerge from the gentle waves rolling up to the shore of the island. It was Lieutenant Kennedy. The young PT skipper fell to the sand and slipped into unconsciousness. His fellow survivors carried him into the thick green cover of the island, where he slept for several hours.


That evening, Ensign Barney Ross, the first to spot the Japanese destroyer on that ill-fated night, attempted the same swim Kennedy had and achieved the same result. The survivors had to come up with a new plan.


Morale was getting low as hunger gripped the crew. The young commander did his best to keep everyone’s spirits up, while privately he voiced anger to two of his senior men about the navy’s apparent decision to leave them all for dead. Kennedy was also growing more concerned for the survival of Pappy McMahon. If not treated soon, the sailor’s burns would become infected, and he would surely die.


Ferguson Passage remained their salvation. Just beyond the body of water was Rendova Island, which served as the US Navy’s major base for patrol torpedo boats. Getting closer to Ferguson Passage was their only chance of rescue. There was another island, bigger than Kasolo, on the horizon. It was a short distance from Ferguson Passage, but there was no telling whether Japanese troops had occupied it or not. Kennedy looked out at the faraway island of Olasana and decided that he must put the lives of his men at great risk in order to save them.


Once again, Kennedy hoisted the injured McMahon onto his back and returned to the water. The others followed on the makeshift raft. After another grueling swim, they arrived at Olasana Island, which was much bigger than the previous atoll. Kennedy and crew discussed whether to search the island for any sign of the enemy but decided it was a bad idea.


“Why go looking for trouble?” one survivor asked.7


The men agreed to remain in place near the beach and on constant watch. There were no Japanese soldiers on Olasana Island. There was no food or freshwater either. To make matters worse, that night six PT boats passed through the area but the weather was too bad and the seas too rough to attempt a swim in their direction. As the sun rose on Thursday, August 5, some survivors took to prayer, while others were convinced they would die stranded on the island. To cheer each other up, they took to repeating Kennedy’s phrase: “Only the good die young.”


The young lieutenant felt his strength returning and asked Barney Ross, the strongest swimmer among the crew, to accompany him on an hour-long swim to nearby Nauru Island, a four-hundred-yard-wide atoll thirty-eight miles north of Rendova Island. They made it to the island with relative ease and soon after found a box of rations left behind by the Japanese. The men, who had not eaten for days, devoured a few small bags of crackers and candy, washed down with potable rainwater collected in a fifty-gallon catchment drum. With their thirst and hunger abated, Kennedy and Ross continued to explore the small island and discovered an old wooden canoe. Kennedy paddled the one-man canoe into Ferguson Passage that night but, finding no PT boats in sight, returned to Nauru, loaded the canoe with the drum of drinking water, and ferried it back to his men on Olasana Island.


Kennedy paddled overnight, hoping that his men would greet the water drum as a welcome surprise. But the survivors had a surprise of their own to share with their young skipper.


“We’re saved! Two locals have found us!” they cheered.8


The survivors introduced Kennedy to two native scouts who had stumbled on the island in search of food. The native peoples of the Solomon Islands hated their Japanese occupiers and had proven strong supporters of the Allied cause. They were organized and inspired by Allied spies known as “coastwatchers,” brave men who lived behind enemy lines reporting on Japanese troop movements and building coalitions among the tribes. The native scouts agreed to take Kennedy back through Ferguson Passage in their canoe. They placed him in the bottom of the vessel and covered him with coconut leaves. Kennedy told the scouts to take him back to Nauru Island to rendezvous with Barney Ross, but Ross had decided to swim back to Olasana Island on his own. The scouts found Ross midway between the two small islands and pulled him aboard the canoe.


Once back on Nauru, Kennedy reexamined his options. He concluded that the tribesmen offered them the best chance for survival. The native islanders, Biuku Gasa and Eroni Kumana, were young like Kennedy and had been schooled by Seventh Day Adventist missionaries. Still, they did not speak much English. Kennedy filled in the communications gaps with pidgin: words, gestures, and body language that the tribesmen understood. He needed Gasa and Kumana to deliver a message to the PT base at Rendova but had nothing to write with or on. Gasa looked up at a coconut tree and came up with a clever solution. He ordered Kumana to climb the tall tree and retrieve a hanging fruit.


“We natives have lots of ‘papers,’” Gasa explained to Kennedy. “You can write a message inside this husk of coconut.”9


Kennedy thought the idea was ingenious. Using his knife, he dug into the sturdy husk and carved out this message:




NAURO ISL


NATIVE KNOWS POS’IT


HE CAN PILOT


11 ALIVE


NEED SMALL BOAT


KENNEDY





The scouts took the husk, along with another note to serve as backup written by fellow survivor Lenny Thom, a native of Sandusky, Ohio, and Kennedy’s executive officer, and headed out to sea. Kennedy now had two new concerns. There was a good chance the tribesmen would not make it all the way to Rendova as they were traveling in shark-infested waters made more treacherous by steady Japanese patrols. They could easily be killed or captured. If the coconut and emergency message fell into enemy hands, the eleven men left from PT-109 would surely be doomed.


Gasa and Kumana paddled seven miles east of Nauru to the island of Wana Wana, where they rendezvoused with a senior scout who worked directly under Lieutenant Reginald Evans, a coastwatcher from Sydney, Australia. Coincidently, Evans had witnessed the Japanese attack on PT-109 from his bamboo hut hidden high atop a mountain on the island of Kolombangara. Evans conferred with the scouts at a secret jungle location on the island of Gomu. The coastwatcher was shocked to hear that eleven men had survived the fiery collision with the Japanese destroyer Amagiri. Evans would need to mount a rescue mission, but it would take some time to plan and execute. In the meantime, he sent the scouts back to Nauru with supplies for the starving survivors. He also sent this note to Kennedy:






To Senior Officer, Naru Is. Friday 11 p.m.





Have just learnt of your presence on Naru Is. & also that two natives have taken news to Rendova. I strongly advise you return immediately to here in this canoe & by the time you arrive here I will be in Radio communication with authorities at Rendova & we can finalise plans to collect balance of party. Will warn aviation of your crossing Ferguson Passage.




A. R. Evans Lt RANVR








On the morning of August 7, five days into the PT crew’s ordeal, a long canoe holding seven scouts and filled with supplies arrived on the shores of Nauru Island. Kennedy and Ross climbed in and guided the scouts to Olasana Island, where their nine comrades awaited them. The scouts handed out potatoes, yams, roast beef hash, and fish, which the starving survivors heated on a small cooking stove. While the men filled their empty bellies, an exhausted Kennedy got back into the canoe and headed for another nearby island to meet with Reginald “Reg” Evans.


When the coastwatcher first encountered the young lieutenant, he saw immediately that Kennedy had been through hell.


“He looked like a very tired, a very haggard and a very, very, sunburned young man,” Evans recalled several years later.10


The Aussie offered Kennedy a cup of tea and advised him to travel to the safe haven of Rendova Island while PT boats were dispatched to rescue the remaining survivors. But these were Kennedy’s men, and the suggestion that he would not see this rescue to the very end was unthinkable. Instead, the skipper joined the rescue party aboard PT-157 and returned to Olasana Island in the predawn hours of August 8, 1943. The survivors of PT-109 were all asleep in the bushes when help finally arrived. Kennedy called out to his men as, one by one, they stumbled slowly out of the jungle toward salvation.


For the next two hours, the survivors, including a badly burned Pappy McMahon, were carefully loaded onto the rescue boat. As they motored out to sea, Kennedy was escorted to a bunk belowdecks. Fatigued and overwhelmed by the emotions of the moment, he collapsed on the bunk and wept for the men he had saved and the two sailors he could not—Harold Marney and Andrew Jackson Kirksey.















CHAPTER FOUR



The Pacifist


RUDY ANDERSON ABHORRED war but loved his country and loved to fly. In fact, he was driven to become the best pilot in the world, and his enlistment in the US Air Force (USAF) gave him the opportunity to test his skills in the military’s most sophisticated aircraft against other top pilots, friend and foe.


In June 1950, the nascent Cold War reached its first point of crisis. An estimated 75,000 troops from the Soviet-backed Democratic People’s Republic of Korea marched south across the Thirty-Eighth Parallel into the Republic of Korea. A month later, the United States, under the auspices of a United Nations police action, took up arms to defend South Korea.


Both Rudy Anderson and Chuck Maultsby would soon enter the fray, but with different objectives in mind. While Maultsby hungered for the opportunity to fight the enemy in the skies over Korea, Anderson decided he could better serve the cause flying reconnaissance missions to protect and alert North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) troops. He had no thirst for dogfighting.


Anderson was assigned to the 15th Tactical Reconnaissance Squadron based at Kimpo, Korea. His mission was to obtain photographic evidence of enemy troop movements and supply lines. The 15th Squadron, originally part of the Army Air Service, had provided key aerial reconnaissance for the D-day landings in June 1944. Its pilots prided themselves on serving as eyes in the sky for American military operations, a feeling handed down from the World War II airmen to the next generation serving in Korea. Rudy was trained on the elusive F-86 Sabre, the US Air Force’s premier jet fighter at the time. Developed after World War II as America’s first swept-wing fighter, the F-86 Sabre cut down on aerodynamic drag at superhigh speeds. It was fast and lethal: armed with six .50-caliber machine guns, three on each side of the pilot, it could reach speeds of 690 mph at sea level. It also offered the perfect solution for recon squadrons hampered by the Chinese-supplied MiG-15s that dominated the skies above the Thirty-Eighth Parallel. The 15th Squadron was tasked with identifying prisoner of war camps in a region known as MiG Alley, where the Yalu River spills into the Yellow Sea—a mission fraught with risk. The squadron had already lost twelve men since the beginning of the conflict, and the American reconnaissance planes—the RF-80 and RB-26—were slow and made for easy targets for enemy fighters. Finally, someone came up with the idea to modify the faster F-86 Sabre for reconnaissance missions. Cameras fitted on each side of the fuselage replaced the guns. The modified jets, renamed RF-86s, flew into the hostile area in mixed formation with F-86 fighters for protection, captured evidence of POW camps, and returned safely to base at Kimpo, “Home of the MiG Killers.”


Robert Ross flew with Rudy Anderson in Korea. A native of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, Ross joined the 15th Tactical Reconnaissance Squadron in early March 1954, as it was moving from Korea to Komaki, Japan. He had trained with Rudy at Moody Air Force Base and was quick to admit that Anderson’s piloting and leadership skills were a cut above the rest.


“Everything impressed you about Rudy,” Ross recalled. “He was physically strong and vertically erect. You never saw him slouching. Most important was the way he handled the men. He wasn’t prone to shouting or beating his chest. Rudy led in the best way—quietly and by example.”1


Anderson was Ross’s first flying partner in Korea. They were assigned to fly to three different points across the Sea of Japan before returning to Komaki.


“I was flying wing on Rudy’s left, and I was reasonably close,” Ross remembered. “He was always watching me and charting my progress.”


Ross’s plane then leveled off at 13,000 feet instead of 23,000 feet—a dangerously low altitude that exposed his aircraft and Anderson’s to enemy fighters. But Rudy did not panic. He called out to Ross on the mic.


“Hey, Bob, we won’t make it in this altitude. Please readjust,” he said calmly.


Ross quickly realized his mistake and made the proper adjustments so both could return to base safely.


“We finished the mission as requested,” Ross said. “Rudy could’ve hammered me for making a mistake like that, but he didn’t. I thought he was the perfect flight leader.”


“Alone, unarmed, and unafraid.” This was the battle cry for all USAF reconnaissance pilots in Korea. But when it came to the most sensitive and dangerous missions, it was best to fly not solo but in pairs. Anderson and fellow pilot Robert J. Depew were teamed up for four daring, “off the books” missions. These top-secret flights took the pilots where they were not supposed to be. During predawn hours, Anderson and Depew climbed into the cockpits of their RF-86s, rolled down the runway, and watched the small base at Komaki disappear behind them. From there, they crossed the Sea of Japan and landed briefly at K-8, the air base at Kunsan, South Korea, where they loaded their cameras and refueled their drop tanks. There they received details for the next leg of their mission. Briefed on their targets, they headed back into the sky. Both pilots understood they were making an unauthorized flight out of North Korea and into China. If something went wrong, they would be on their own, with only one another to count on for their survival. Flying at approximately 54,000 feet, Anderson and Depew traveled across the Yellow Sea and over Dairen, China, home to Soviet-occupied Port Arthur. The pilots flew in tight formation, only five hundred to eight hundred feet apart. They had visuals on each other to look for contrails. If Anderson could see Depew’s contrails, that meant they could also be seen from the ground. The top-secret mission would be top-secret no more, and they would have to abort immediately. Fortunately for the pilots, they managed to meet their targets, take their photos, and return safely to friendly soil.


ALTHOUGH A RECONNAISSANCE pilot was utterly defenseless and susceptible to enemy attack at any time, the job suited Anderson’s personality perfectly as he was a closet pacifist who had confided to family members that he could not justify killing anyone—even in combat.


Upon his return home from the war, he was sent for additional training at Moody Air Force Base near Valdosta, Georgia. The base was first used during World War II to train single-engine pilots to fly twin-engine combat aircraft. Moody had also served as an internment camp for German POWs. The base itself was massive, the largest Anderson had ever seen, with eight long runways and more than 160 buildings of various sizes and shapes spread out over 9,000 acres. The base was a temporary home for over 4,000 airmen all eager to prove their worth. Flight instructors schooled Anderson and his fellow pilots on navigational instruments of the F-80 Shooting Star, the USAF’s first turbojet-powered combat aircraft. They also received extensive training on aerial photography. Airmen like Anderson then photographed assigned targets, such as ports and the occasional communications line, at differing altitudes. A thorough understanding of geography was a key element in recon training. The airmen pored over maps and studied photographs to identify every river, hilltop, and valley deemed important to their mission. By all accounts, Anderson excelled both in the classroom and in the air. He also made the most of his brief time spent off base.


When he could break away from the classroom and the cockpit, he and a few air force buddies drove to Valdosta, nine miles south of Moody Air Force Base. Valdosta was a state college town lined with two-story brick buildings and storefronts that carried bold signs promoting anything from billiards to broomsticks. The town was also slowly emerging from the racial strife that plagued the South in the early to mid-twentieth century. In 1918, murderous white mobs lynched thirteen African Americans, including a young pregnant woman, in retaliation for the shooting of a white planter by a black farmhand. Twenty-five years later, the community celebrated a young Georgia high school student named Martin Luther King Jr. by voting him second place in a local scholastic oratory contest.


Anderson drove to Valdosta to pick up a friend who was taking courses at the state college there. It was here that he met a young coed named Jane Corbett. With flowing red hair, sparkling blue eyes, and a porcelain complexion that earned her the nickname “Doll,” Jane was the ideal catch for the fraternity boys on campus. In high school, a friend had pressured her to enter a beauty contest simply because she did not want to enter it alone. Jane reluctantly entered and won. She always said that it was the single most embarrassing moment of her life because she never sought attention and had always downplayed her good looks.


“On a good day, I won’t scare people off, or their pets,” she often said.


Jane was born and raised in neighboring Pearson, Georgia. Her parents, Francis and Lilla Mae Corbett, owned a small business in the heart of town, where they sold ice along with sausage and ham cooked in a smokehouse in the back of the store. But the family-run business barely turned a profit, and the Corbetts, like most folks in southern Georgia, survived week to week on meager earnings.


Jane was the typical middle child. She never received the same attention from her parents as her older sister, Frances, or younger brother, William, whom the family called “Boy.” Instead, Jane forged her own path, finding passion in education, art, and athletics. She skipped two grades in high school despite constant scolding for her reluctance to take notes in class.


“Taking notes is unnecessary if you pay attention,” she told her teachers.2


Jane loved to paint with oils and acrylics and was a pivotal player on her high school basketball team, which won a state title. She also demonstrated a real talent for horseback riding. Trained in the English style, using the reins for direction and speed, Jane raced across local fields and hills, experiencing a sense of freedom similar to the exhilaration Rudy felt soaring high above the Georgia countryside.




OEBPS/images/9781610398053.jpg
CASEY SHERMAN & MICHAEL TOUGIAS

NEW YORK TIMES BESTSELLING AUTHORS OF
THE FINEST HOURS





OEBPS/images/Art_tit.jpg
ABOVE s
BEYONL

_O_

JOHN F. KENNEDY ano AMERICA’S MOST
DANGEROUS COLD WAR SPY MISSION

CASEY SHERMAN & MICHAEL J. TOUGIAS

B
PUBLICAFFAIRS

New York





